
 

 

 

To:  Anthony J. Ferrara Mike Yevoli  Date: May 13, 2014 
 Tracy Metzger              Mark Opalka  
 Darius Shahinfar             Joe Scott  
 Susan Pedo              John Reilly 
 C. Anthony Owens         Sarah Reginelli 
 Lee Eck                Brad Chevalier 
             Dominick Calsolaro        Andy Corcione    
  
 
 
 

City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 
 

21 Lodge Street 
Albany, New York 12207 

Telephone: (518) 434-2532 
Fax: (518) 434-9846 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
         
 

 
 
               
 
                                           
 
 
 

 Columbia 425 NS, LLC Project 

   

AGENDA 
 
The regular meeting of the City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation will be held on May 
15,

 
2014 at 12:15 p.m. ***the Regular Monthly Meeting of the City of Albany IDA is 

cancelled*** at 21 Lodge Street (Large Conference Room). 
 
Roll Call        
 
Reading of Minutes of the Regular Meeting March 20, 2014 
 
Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting March 20, 2014      
 
Reports of Committees        
 
Report of Chief Executive Officer  
 
Report of Chief Financial Office    
 

 Financial Report  
 
Communications        
 
Unfinished Business  

 

 None  
 
New Business 
 

 Fuller Road Management Corporation Project Preliminary Inducement Resolution 
 
Other Business    
 

 None  
 
     
 
 
 
 
Adjournment 

 

 

*The next regularly scheduled meeting is Thursday, June 19, 2014 at 21 Lodge Street, 
Albany, NY 12207 



 1 

            City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 

21 Lodge Street 
Albany, New York 12207 

Telephone:  (518) 434-2532 
Fax: (518) 434-9846 

Anthony J. Ferrara, Chairperson                                                                                                                                         Michael Yevoli, Chief Executive Officer                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Tracy Metzger, Vice Chairperson                                                                                                                                             Erik J. Smith, Chief Financial Officer 
Darius Shahinfar, Treasurer                John Reilly, Agency Counsel  
Susan Pedo, Secretary                                                                                                                                                                           
C. Anthony Owens 
Lee Eck 
Dominick Calsolaro 

 
 

CRC MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
Thursday, March 20, 2014 

 

Attending:       Tracy Metzger, Darius Shahinfar, Susan Pedo, C. Anthony Owens, Lee Eck and 

Dominick Calsolaro  

                                                                                                                                       

Absent: Anthony J. Ferrara 

 

Also Present:   Erik Smith, John Reilly, Joe Scott, Bradley Chevalier, Andy Corcione, Amanda 

Vitullo & Amy Gardner  

 

Vice Chairperson Tracy Metzger called the regular meeting of the IDA to order at 12:46 PM.        

 

Roll Call  

 
Vice Chairperson Tracy Metzger reported that all Board members were present with the exception of  

Anthony Ferrara. 

 

Reading of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of February 20, 2014 
Since the minutes of the previous meeting had been distributed to Board members in advance for 

review, Vice Chairperson Metzger made a proposal to dispense with the reading of the minutes. 

 

Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of February 20, 2014 

Vice Chairperson Metzger made a proposal to approve the minutes of the regular Board meeting of 

February 20, 2014 as presented.  A motion to accept the minutes, as presented, was made by Anthony 

Owens and seconded by Darius Shahinfar.  A vote being taken, the minutes were accepted unanimously. 

 

Reports of Committees 

 

None 

 

Report of Chief Executive Officer 

 

None 

 

Report of Chief Financial Officer 

Erik Smith reviewed the monthly financial report with the Board.  At this time the CRC’s projected 

year-end cash balance is $99,931. 

 

Communications 

 



 2 

None 

 

Unfinished Business 

 

None 

 

New Business 

 

Review of Draft 2013 Audited Financial Statements  

Susan Pedo Chairperson of the Audit Committee advised the Board that the Committee had reviewed 

the 2013 Audited Financial Statements prior to the Board meeting with Sarah Robinson of Teal, Becker 

and Chiaramonte.  Ms. Pedo advised the Board that result of the audit was a clean opinion and that is the 

highest opinion available.  A management letter was not written because the auditors did not have any 

comments.  Ms. Pedo advised the Board that the audit did not reveal any deficiencies or materials 

weaknesses.  The only change to the statements would be the addition of the date, address and amount of 

bonds.   

 

A motion to accept the Audited Financial Statements was made by Anthony Owens and seconded by 

Darius Shahinfar.  A vote being taken, the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Review of Draft 2013 Annual Report  

Staff reviewed the report with the Board.  Staff advised the Board that the report must be filed by March 

31
st
 to remain compliant with PAAA and they did not anticipate any problems with reaching this 

deadline.  Staff advised the Board that no changes would be made to the report before submission. 

 

Review of Draft 2013 Procurement Report  

Staff reviewed the report with the Board.  Staff advised the Board that the report must be filed by March 

31
st
 to remain compliant with PAAA and they did not anticipate any problems with reaching this 

deadline.  Staff advised the Board that no changes would be made to the report before submission.   

 

Review of Draft 2013 Investment Report 

Staff reviewed the report with the Board.  Staff advised the Board that the report must be filed by March 

31
st
 to remain compliant with PAAA and they did not anticipate any problems with reaching this 

deadline.  Staff advised the Board that no changes would be made to the report before submission. 

 
Other Business 

 
None 

 

There being no further business, Vice Chairperson Metzger adjourned the meeting at 1:15PM 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

___________________ 

(Assistant, Secretary) 

 

 

 

 



City of Albany CRC
2014 Monthly Cash Position

April 2014

January February March April May June July August September October November December YTD Total

Beginning Balance 105,917$       105,923$       102,624$       102,626$       101,428$       101,429$       101,431$       101,433$       101,434$       101,436$       46,438$         44,738$         105,917$      

Revenue

Fee Revenue

Application Fee -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                 

Agency Fee -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Administrative Fee -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Modification Fee -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Subtotal - Fee Revenue -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                 

Other Revenue

Interest Income 6$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 1$                 1$                 22                 

Misc -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Subtotal - Other Revenue 6$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 1$                 1$                 22$               

Total - Revenue 6$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 2$                 1$                 1$                 22$               

Expenditures

Audits -                    3,300             -                    1,200             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    4,500            

Transit Enhancement Program 55,000           55,000          

D & O Insurance -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    1,700             -                    1,700            

Misc. -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Total - Expenditures -$                  3,300$           -$                  1,200$           -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  55,000$         1,700$           -$                  61,200$        

Ending Balance 105,923$       102,624$       102,626$       101,428$       101,429$       101,431$       101,433$       101,434$       101,436$       46,438$         44,738$         44,739$         44,739$        

ACTUAL PROJECTED



City of Albany CRC
Fee Detail by Month

March 2014

Name Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE 

January -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

February -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

March -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

April -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

May -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

June -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

Page 2 of 3



City of Albany CRC
Fee Detail by Month

March 2014

Name Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE 

July -$                           -$                             -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

August -$                           -$                             -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

September -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

October -$                           -$                             -$                                 -                              -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

November -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

December -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

2014 TOTAL -$                           -$                            -$                                -$                           -$                           

Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE

Page 3 of 3



City of Albany IDA
2014 Monthly Cash Position

April 2014

January February March April May June July August September October November December YTD Total

Beginning Balance 754,526$       970,441$       1,079,993$    1,611,835$    1,856,315$    1,940,514$    1,951,935$    1,926,604$    2,074,705$    1,986,876$    1,961,547$    1,919,417$    754,526$      

Revenue

Fee Revenue

Application Fee 3,000$           1,500$           -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  4,500$          

Agency Fee 293,100         30,320           669,603         244,653         150,265         100,953         -                    190,233         -                    -                    -                    -                    1,679,127     

Administrative Fee 500               -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    500               

Modification Fee 500               -                    -                    1,500             1,000             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    3,000            

Subtotal - Fee Revenue 297,100$       31,820$         669,603$       246,153$       151,265$       100,953$       -$                  190,233$       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  1,687,127$   

Other Revenue

Project Benefit Agreement -$                  100,000$       -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  100,000$      

Interest Income 41                 16                 24                 27                 31                 32                 33                 32                 35                 33                 33                 32                 367               

CRC -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

NYS BIC -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Misc -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Subtotal - Other Revenue 41$               100,016$       24$               27$               31$               32$               33$               32$               35$               33$               33$               32$               100,367$      

Total - Revenue 297,141$       131,836$       669,627$       246,180$       151,296$       100,985$       33$               190,265$       35$               33$               33$               32$               1,787,495$   

Expenditures

Management Contract -$                  -$                  75,000$         -$                  50,000$         25,000$         25,000$         25,000$         25,000$         25,000$         25,000$         25,000$         300,000$      

Downtown Tactical Plan -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

APA Contract -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Audits -                    5,300             -                    1,700             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    7,000            

Agency Counsel 42,000           -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    42,000          

ED Support -                    -                    62,500           -                    -                    62,500           -                    -                    62,500           -                    -                    62,500           250,000        

Sub-lease AHCC 39,226           16,421           -                    -                    16,732           -                    -                    16,800           -                    -                    16,800           -                    105,979        

NYS BIC -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

D & O Insurance -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    1,700             -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    1,700            

Misc. -                    563               285               -                    364               364               364               364               364               362               363               363               3,756            

Other Expenses -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                   

Total - Expenditures 81,226$         22,284$         137,785$       1,700$           67,096$         89,564$         25,364$         42,164$         87,864$         25,362$         42,163$         87,863$         710,435$      

Ending Balance 970,441$       1,079,993$    1,611,835$    1,856,315$    1,940,514$    1,951,935$    1,926,604$    2,074,705$    1,986,876$    1,961,547$    1,919,417$    1,831,586$    1,831,586$   

(1)
 Lists the Agency Fees forecasted by year-end.  

 

Forecasted project activity Amount

50 NS, LLC 50,020$            

New Scotland Parking Facility 294,000            

344,020$          

 

PROJECTEDACTUAL



City of Albany IDA
Fee Detail by Month

April 2014

Name Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE 

January LV Apartments, LP -$                           293,100$                 -$                                 -$                            293,100$               

Sixty State Place, LLC -                             -                               500                              500                         

733 Broadway, LLC 1,500                     -                               -                                   -                              1,500                     

Tricentenial Properties, LLC 1,500                     -                               -                                   -                              1,500                     

TOTAL 3,000$                   293,100$                 500$                            500$                       297,100$               

February 412 Broadway Realty, LLC -$                           30,320$                   -$                                 -$                            30,320$                 

CDP Holland, LLC 1,500                     -                               -                                   -                              1,500                     

TOTAL 1,500$                   30,320$                   -$                                 -$                            31,820$                 

March Fuller Road Management Corporation -$                           100,000$                 -$                                 -$                            100,000$               

144 State Street Properties, LLC -                             469,603                   -                                   -                              469,603                 

488 Broadway Arcade, LLC 100,000                   

-                             -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           669,603$                 -$                                 -$                            669,603$               

April Aeon Nexus Corporation -$                           18,335$                   -$                                 -$                            18,335$                 

Sheridan Hollow Village, LLC/Sheridan Hollow Enterprises 153,843                   

Columbia 425 NS, LLC 500                              

Madison Properties of Albany, LLC 500                         

Dilek, LLC 500                         

132 State Street Properties, LLC -$                           23,515$                   -$                                 -$                            

136 State Street Properties, LLC -                             35,905                     -                                   -                              

140 State Street Properties, LLC -                             13,055                     -                                   -                              

TOTAL -$                           244,653$                 500$                            1,000$                    246,153$               

May 67 Howard Street, LLC 65,035$                   65,035$                 

Sixty State Place, LLC 500                         500                        

Columbia 677, LLC 500                         500                        

Tricentenial Properties, LLC -                             85,230                     -                                   -                              85,230                   

-                             

-                             

-                             -                             

TOTAL -$                           150,265$                 -$                                 1,000$                    151,265$               

June 40 Steuben LLC -$                           49,536$                   -$                                 -$                            49,536$                 

733 Broadway, LLC -                             51,417                     -                                   -                              51,417                   

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-$                           100,953$                 -$                                 -$                            100,953$               

Page 2 of 3



City of Albany IDA
Fee Detail by Month

April 2014

Name Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE 

July -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

August TMG-NY Albany I, LP -$                           190,233$                 -$                                 -$                            190,233                 

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           190,233$                 -$                                 -$                            190,233$               

September -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

October -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

November -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

December -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

-                             -                               -                                   -                              -                             

TOTAL -$                           -$                             -$                                 -$                            -$                           

2014 TOTAL 4,500$                   1,679,127$             1,000$                         2,500$                   1,687,127$            

Application Fee Agency Fee Administration Fee Modification Fee TOTAL FEE

Page 3 of 3



 

 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

PRELIMINARY INDUCEMENT RESOLUTION 

FULLER ROAD MANAGEMENT CORPORATION PROJECT 

 

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors of City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation (the 

“Issuer”) was convened in public session the offices of the Issuer located at 21 Lodge Street in the City of 

Albany, Albany County, New York on May 15, 2014 at 12:00 o’clock noon, local time. 

 

The meeting was called to order by the Treasurer of the Board of Directors of the Issuer and, 

upon roll being called, the following members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer were: 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Anthony J. Ferrara Chairman 

Tracy Metzger Vice Chairman 

Hon. Darius Shahinfar Treasurer 

Susan Pedo Secretary 

Dominick Calsolaro Member 

Lee Eck Member 

C. Anthony Owens Member 

 

ABSENT: 

 

  

  

 

ISSUER STAFF PRESENT INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING: 

 

Michael J. Yevoli CEO - Capitalize Albany Corporation 

Sarah Reginelli Director of Economic Development 

Bradley Chevalier Senior Economic Developer, Capitalize Albany Corporation 

Andrew Corcione Economic Developer, Capitalize Albany Corporation 

Amanda Vitullo Communications and Marketing Assistant 

Amy Gardner Administrative Assistant, Capitalize Albany Corporation 

John J. Reilly, Esq. Agency Counsel 

A. Joseph Scott, III, Esq. Special Agency Counsel 

 

The following resolution was offered by ____________________, seconded by 

____________________, to wit: 

 

Resolution No. 14-___ 

 

RESOLUTION TAKING PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL ACTION TOWARD THE 

ISSUANCE OF REVENUE BONDS IN AN AMOUNT SUFFICIENT TO FINANCE A 

CERTAIN PROJECT FOR FULLER ROAD MANAGEMENT CORPORATION (THE 

“COMPANY”) AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT WITH THE COMPANY WITH RESPECT TO SUCH 

FINANCING. 

 

WHEREAS, City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”) was created pursuant to 

Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York, as amended (the 

“Enabling Act”). Pursuant to the provisions of the Enabling Act and Revenue Ruling 57-187 and Private 



 

 

- 2 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

Letter Ruling 200936012, the Common Council of the City of Albany, New York, (the “City”) adopted a 

resolution on March 15, 2010 (the “Sponsor Resolution”) (A) authorizing the incorporation of the Issuer 

under the Enabling Act and (B) appointing the initial members of the board of directors of the Issuer. In 

April, 2010, a certificate of incorporation was filed with the New York Secretary of State’s Office (the 

“Certificate of Incorporation”) creating the Issuer as a public instrumentality of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Enabling Act to 

relieve and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional and maximum employment, better 

and maintain job opportunities, and lessen the burdens of government and act in the public interest, and in 

carrying out the aforesaid purposes and in exercising the powers conferred in the Enabling Act, the 

Enabling Act declares that the Issuer will be performing essential governmental functions; and 

 

WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Issuer is authorized and empowered under the 

Enabling Act to acquire real and personal property; to borrow money and issue negotiable bonds, notes 

and other obligations therefore; to lease, sell, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber any of its 

real or personal property upon such terms as it may determine; and otherwise to carry out its corporate 

purposes in the territory in which the operations of the Issuer are principally to be conducted; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 13, 2014, Fuller Road Management Corporation (the “Company”), a New 

York State not-for-profit corporation, presented an application (the “Application”) to the Issuer, which 

Application requested that the Issuer consider undertaking a project (the “Project”) for the benefit of the 

Company, said Project to consist of the following: (A)  (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximate 

three (3) acre parcel of land located at 201 Fuller Road in the City of Albany, Albany County, New York 

(the “Land”), (2) the construction on the Land of a building to contain approximately 356,512 square feet 

of space (the “Facility”) and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain machinery 

and equipment (the “Equipment”) (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to 

as the “Project Facility”), all of the foregoing to be owned by the Company and to be leased to various 

users of office and data center space and other directly and indirectly related activities; (B) the financing 

of all or a portion of the costs of the foregoing by the issuance of tax-exempt/taxable revenue bonds of the 

Issuer in one or more issues or series in an aggregate principal amount sufficient to pay the cost of 

undertaking the Project, together with necessary incidental costs in connection therewith, in an amount 

then estimated to be approximately $191,000,000 and in any event not to exceed $200,000,000  (the 

“Obligations”); (C) paying a portion of the costs incidental to the issuance of the Obligations, including 

issuance costs of the Obligations and any reserve funds as may be necessary to secure the Obligations and 

(D) the making of a loan (the “Loan”) of the proceeds of the Obligations to the Company or such other 

person as may be designated by the Company and agreed upon by the Issuer; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has given due consideration to the Application, and to representations by 

the Company that issuance of the Obligations with respect to the Project will be an inducement to the 

Company to undertake the Project in the City of Albany, New York; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to encourage the Company to relieve and reduce unemployment, 

promote and provide for additional and maximum employment, better and maintain job opportunities for 

the inhabitants of the City of Albany, New York by undertaking the Project in the City of Albany, New 

York; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 43-B of the 

Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended, and the regulations (the “DEC Regulations”) adopted 

pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State of New York 

(collectively, the “SEQR Act”), the Issuer has not yet made a preliminary determination as to the potential 



 

 

- 3 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

environmental significance of the Project and therefore has not yet determined whether an environmental 

impact statement is required to be prepared with respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, with respect to any portion of the Obligations intended to be issued as federally tax-

exempt obligations, interest on such portion of the Obligations will not be excludable from gross income 

for federal income tax purposes unless (A) pursuant to Section 147(f) of the Code and the regulations of 

the United States Treasury Department thereunder (the “Treasury Regulations”), the issuance of such 

portion of the Obligations is approved by the Mayor after the Issuer has held a public hearing on the 

nature and location of the Project Facility and the issuance of the Obligations as required by Section 

147(f) of the Code; and (B) pursuant to Section 145(a) of the Code, all property which is to be provided 

by the net proceeds of such portion of the Obligations is to be owned by a Section 501(c)(3) organization 

or a governmental unit and at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the net proceeds of the Obligations are 

used with respect to (1) governmental units and/or (2) the activities of Section 501(c)(3) organizations 

which do not constitute “unrelated trades or businesses” (as defined in Section 513(a) of the Code) with 

respect to such Section 501(c)(3) organizations; and 

 

WHEREAS, although the resolution authorizing the issuance of the Obligations and the 

undertaking of the Project has not yet been drafted for approval by the Issuer, a preliminary agreement 

(the “Preliminary Agreement”) relative to the proposed issuance of the Obligations and the undertaking of 

the Project by the Issuer has been presented for approval by the Issuer;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS OF CITY OF ALBANY CAPITAL RESOURCE CORPORATION, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Issuer has reviewed the Application and, based upon the representations 

made by the Company to the Issuer in the Application and at this meeting, the Issuer hereby makes the 

following findings and determinations with respect to the Project: 

 

(A) The issuance of the Obligations by the Issuer with respect to the Project will 

relieve and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional and maximum 

employment, better and maintain job opportunities for the inhabitants of the City of Albany, New 

York, and thereby serve the public purposes of the Enabling Act; and 

 

(B) It is desirable and in the public interest to issue the Obligations in a principal 

amount sufficient to pay the cost of undertaking the Project, together with necessary incidental 

expenses in connection therewith (collectively, the “Project Costs”), which Project Costs are 

presently estimated to be an amount not to exceed $200,000,000; 

 

provided, however, that the foregoing determinations shall not entitle or permit the Company to 

commence the acquisition, construction or installation of the Project Facility, nor commit the Issuer to 

issue any Obligations with respect to the Project, unless and until the Issuer shall decide to proceed with 

the Project following a determination by the Issuer that all requirements of the SEQR Act that relate to the 

Project and to the issuance of the Obligations have been fulfilled. 

 

Section 2. If, following full compliance with the SEQR Act and the requirements of the 

Enabling Act, including the public hearing requirements set forth in Section 859-a of the General 

Municipal Law, the Issuer adopts a future resolution (the “Future Resolution”) determining to proceed 

with the Project and the Company complies with all conditions set forth in this Resolution, the 

Preliminary Agreement and the Future Resolution, the Issuer will (A) authorize the issuance of the 

Obligations in such principal amount and with such maturities, interest rate or rates, redemption terms and 

other terms and provisions as shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of a further resolution 



 

 

- 4 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

of the Issuer; (B) make a loan to the Company of the proceeds of the Obligations (the “Loan”) for the 

purpose of assisting in financing the Project; (C) enter into a loan agreement (hereinafter, the “Loan 

Agreement”) between the Issuer and the Company whereby the Company will be obligated, among other 

things, (1) to make payments to the Issuer in amounts and at times so that such payments will be adequate 

to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Obligations and (2) to pay all costs incurred 

by the Issuer with respect to the Project and/or the Project Facility, including all costs of operation and 

maintenance, all taxes and other governmental charges, any required payments in lieu of taxes, and all 

reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer with respect to or in connection with the Project 

and/or the Project Facility; and (D) secure the Obligations in such manner as the Issuer, the Company and 

the purchasers of the Obligations shall mutually deem appropriate; all as contemplated by the Preliminary 

Agreement. If the proceeds from the sale of the Obligations are insufficient to finance the entire cost of 

the acquisition, construction, installation, financing and/or refinancing of the Project Facility, the Issuer 

will, upon request of the Company and subject to the provisions of the Preliminary Agreement and 

Section 3 hereof, use its best efforts to effect the issuance from time to time in the future of additional 

bonds, whether on a parity with the Obligations or otherwise, for the purpose of paying the cost of 

completing the acquisition, construction and installation of the Project Facility. 

 

Section 3. The issuance of the Obligations and any additional bonds by the Issuer, as 

contemplated by Section 2 of this Resolution, shall be subject to: (A) the determination by the Issuer to 

proceed with the Project following a determination by the Issuer that all requirements of the SEQR Act 

that relate to the Project have been fulfilled; (B) execution and delivery by the Company of the 

Preliminary Agreement, which sets forth certain conditions for the issuance of the Obligations by the 

Issuer, and satisfaction by the Company of all the terms and conditions of the Preliminary Agreement 

applicable to the Company; (C) agreement by the Issuer, the Company and the purchasers of the 

Obligations on mutually acceptable terms for the Obligations and for the sale and delivery thereof and 

mutually acceptable terms and conditions for the security for the payment thereof; (D) agreement between 

the Company and the Issuer as to payment by the Company of the administrative fee of the Issuer with 

respect to the Project; (E) if interest on any portion of the Obligations is to be treated as excludable from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes, (1) pursuant to Section 145(a) of the Code, all property 

which is to be provided by the net proceeds of such portion of the Obligations must be owned by a 

Section 501(c)(3) organization or a governmental unit and at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the net 

proceeds of such portion of the Obligations must be used with respect to (a) governmental units and/or 

(b) the activities of Section 501(c)(3) organizations which do not constitute “unrelated trades or 

businesses” (as defined in Section 513(a) of the Code), and (2) the Mayor of the City of Albany, New 

York must have approved the issuance of such portion of the Obligations after a public hearing on the 

issuance of the Obligations and the nature and location of the Project Facility has been held by the Issuer, 

as required by Section 147(f) of the Code; and (F) the following additional condition(s):  

___________________. 

 

 

 

Section 4. The form, terms and substance of the Preliminary Agreement (in substantially the 

form presented to this meeting and attached hereto) are in all respects approved, and the Chairman (or 

Vice Chairman) of the Issuer is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute and deliver said 

Preliminary Agreement in the name and on behalf of the Issuer, said Preliminary Agreement to be 

substantially in the form presented to this meeting, with such changes therein as shall be approved by the 

officer executing same on behalf of the Issuer, the execution thereof by such officer to constitute 

conclusive evidence of such officer’s approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the form 

now before this meeting. 

 



 

 

- 5 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

Section 5. From and after the execution and delivery of the Preliminary Agreement, the 

officers, agents and employees of the Issuer are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to proceed 

with the undertakings provided for therein on the part of the Issuer and are further authorized to do all 

such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary or convenient to carry out 

and comply with the terms and provisions of the Preliminary Agreement as executed. 

 

Section 6. The officers, agents and employees of the Issuer are hereby directed to proceed to 

comply with the provisions of the SEQR Act and to do such things or perform such acts as may allow the 

Issuer to proceed to its final consideration of the Project. 

 

Section 7. It is intended that this Resolution shall constitute an affirmative official action 

toward the issuance of the Obligations within the meaning of Section 1.103-8(a)(5) and Section 1.150-

2(e)(1) of the United States Treasury Regulations. 

 

Section 8. The Company is hereby authorized to conduct such environmental, engineering, 

economic, feasibility and other studies and preliminary planning and budgetary processes necessary or 

convenient to enable the Issuer to make its final determination whether to approve the Project, and the 

Company is further authorized to advance such funds as may be necessary for such purpose, subject, to 

the extent permitted by law, to reimbursement from the proceeds of the sale of the Obligations, if the 

Obligations are issued; provided, however, that such authorization shall not entitle or permit the Company 

to commence the acquisition, construction or installation of the Project Facility unless and until the Issuer 

shall determine to proceed with the Project following a determination by the Issuer that all requirements 

of the SEQR Act that relate to the Project and to the issuance of the Obligations have been fulfilled.  This 

Resolution constitutes a determination of compliance with technical requirements within the meaning of 

Section 617.3(c) of the DEC Regulations and does not constitute, and shall not be deemed to constitute, 

either an approval by the Issuer of the Project for the purposes of the SEQR Act or a commitment by the 

Issuer to issue the Obligations except upon satisfaction of the requirements of the SEQR Act, the 

requirements set forth in Section 3 hereof and the requirements set forth in the Preliminary Agreement. 

 

Section 9.  The law firm of Hodgson Russ LLP is hereby appointed Bond Counsel to the Issuer 

with respect to all matters in connection with the Project and the issuance of the Obligations. Bond 

Counsel for the Issuer is hereby authorized, at the expense of the Company, to work with the Company, 

counsel to the Company, counsel to the Issuer, the purchasers of the Obligations and others to prepare, for 

submission to the Issuer, all documents necessary to effect the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery 

of the Obligations and the other transactions contemplated by this Resolution. 

 

Section 10. The Issuer hereby authorizes the Chairman of the Issuer, prior to the issuance of 

any portion of the Obligations with respect to the Project, after consultation with the members of the 

Issuer, (A) (1) to establish the time, date and place for a public hearing of the Issuer to hear all persons 

interested in the Project and the proposed financial assistance being contemplated by the Issuer with 

respect to the Project; (2) to cause notice of such public hearing to be given to the public by publishing a 

notice of such hearing in a newspaper of general circulation available to residents of the City of Albany, 

New York, such notice to comply with the requirements of Section 859-a of the General Municipal Law 

and to be published no fewer than fourteen (14) days prior to the date established for such public hearing; 

(3) to cause notice of said public hearing to be given to the chief executive officer of the county and each 

town, village and school district in which the Project is to be located no fewer than fourteen (14) days 

prior to the date established for said public hearing; (4) to conduct such public hearing; and (5) to cause a 

report of said public hearing fairly summarizing the views presented at said public hearing to be promptly 

prepared and cause copies of said report to be made available to the members of the Issuer and (B) to 

satisfy the public approval requirements contained in Section 147(f) of the Code. 

 



 

 

- 6 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

Section 11. The Chairman, the Vice Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Issuer is hereby authorized and directed to distribute copies of this Resolution to the Company and to do 

such further things or perform such acts as may be necessary or convenient to implement the provisions 

of this Resolution. 

 

Section 12. This Resolution shall take effect immediately. 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 

which resulted as follows: 

 

Anthony J. Ferrara VOTING        

Tracy Metzger VOTING           

Hon. Darius Shahinfar VOTING           

Susan Pedo VOTING           

Dominick Calsolaro VOTING           

Lee Eck VOTING        

C. Anthony Owens VOTING           

 

The foregoing Resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted. 



 

 

- 7 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

STATE OF NEW YORK ) 

 ) SS.: 

COUNTY OF ALBANY ) 

 

 

I, the undersigned (Assistant) Secretary of CITY OF ALBANY CAPITAL RESOURCE 

CORPORATION (the “Issuer”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY that I have compared the foregoing annexed 

extract of the minutes of the meeting of the members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer, including the 

Resolution contained therein, held on May 15, 2014 with the original thereof on file in my office, and that 

the same is a true and correct copy of said original and of such Resolution contained therein and of the 

whole of said original so far as the same relates to the subject matters therein referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that (A) all members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer had due 

notice of said meeting; (B) said meeting was in all respects duly held; (C) pursuant to Article 7 of the 

Public Officers Law (the “Open Meetings Law”), said meeting was open to the general public, and due 

notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Open Meetings Law; 

and (D) there was a quorum of the members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer present throughout 

said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that, as of the date hereof, the attached Resolution is in full force and 

effect and has not been amended, repealed or rescinded. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Issuer this 

____ day of May, 2014. 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

(Assistant) Secretary 

 

 

(SEAL) 



 

000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT 

 

 

THIS PRELIMINARY AGREEMENT made as of May 15, 2014 between CITY OF ALBANY 

CAPITAL RESOURCE CORPORATION (the “Issuer”), a not-for-profit corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of New York, and FULLER ROAD MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION (the “Company”), a not-for-profit corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of New York; 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Section 1411 of the 

Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York, as amended (the “Enabling Act”) to relieve 

and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional and maximum employment, better and 

maintain job opportunities, and lessen the burdens of government and act in the public interest, and in 

carrying out the aforesaid purposes and in exercising the powers conferred in the Enabling Act, the 

Enabling Act declares that the Issuer will be performing essential governmental functions; and 

 

WHEREAS, to accomplish its stated purposes, the Issuer is authorized and empowered under the 

Enabling Act to acquire real and personal property; to borrow money and issue negotiable bonds, notes 

and other obligations therefore; to lease, sell, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber any of its 

real or personal property upon such terms as it may determine; and otherwise to carry out its corporate 

purposes in the territory in which the operations of the Issuer are principally to be conducted; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 13, 2014, Fuller Road Management Corporation (the “Company”), a New 

York State not-for-profit corporation, presented an application (the “Application”) to the Issuer, which 

Application requested that the Issuer consider undertaking a project (the “Project”) for the benefit of the 

Company, said Project to consist of the following: (A)  (1) the acquisition of an interest in an approximate 

three (3) acre parcel of land located at 201 Fuller Road in the City of Albany, Albany County, New York 

(the “Land”), (2) the construction on the Land of a building to contain approximately 356,512 square feet 

of space (the “Facility”) and (3) the acquisition and installation therein and thereon of certain machinery 

and equipment (the “Equipment”) (the Land, the Facility and the Equipment being collectively referred to 

as the “Project Facility”), all of the foregoing shall support the research and educational mission of the 

State University of New York Nanoscale Science and Engineering and other directly and indirectly 

related activities; (B) the financing of all or a portion of the costs of the foregoing by the issuance of 

revenue bonds of the Issuer in one or more issues or series in an aggregate principal amount sufficient to 

pay the cost of undertaking the Project, together with necessary incidental costs in connection therewith, 

in an amount then estimated to be approximately $191,000,000 and in any event not to exceed 

$200,000,000  (the “Obligations”); and (C) paying a portion of the costs incidental to the issuance of the 

Obligations, including issuance costs of the Obligations and any reserve funds as may be necessary to 

secure the Obligations; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has given due consideration to the Application, and to representations by 

the Company that issuance of the Obligations with respect to the Project will be an inducement to the 

Company to undertake the Project in the City of Albany, New York; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer desires to encourage the Company to relieve and reduce unemployment, 

promote and provide for additional and maximum employment, better and maintain job opportunities for 

the inhabitants of the City of Albany, New York by undertaking the Project in the City of Albany, New 

York; and 

 



 

 

- 2 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law, Chapter 43-B of the 

Consolidated Laws of New York, as amended, and the regulations (the “DEC Regulations”) adopted 

pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State of New York 

(collectively, the “SEQR Act”), the Issuer has not yet made a preliminary determination as to the potential 

environmental significance of the Project and therefore has not yet determined whether an environmental 

impact statement is required to be prepared with respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the members of the board of directors of the Issuer on 

May 15, 2014 (the “Inducement Resolution”), the board of directors of the Issuer determined, following a 

review of the Public Hearing Report, to proceed with the Project and to enter into this Preliminary 

Agreement; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the Issuer and 

the Company agree as follows: 

 

Article 1. Representations. 

 

Among the representations which have resulted in the execution of this Preliminary Agreement 

are the following: 

 

Section 1.01. The Company hereby represents to the Issuer that: 

 

(A) The issuance of the Obligations with respect to the Project will be an inducement 

to the Company to locate and/or retain the Project in the City of Albany, New York. 

 

(B) The Project Facility is and/or will be located entirely within the boundaries of the 

City of Albany, New York. 

 

(C) The issuance of the Obligations by the Issuer with respect to the Project will 

relieve and reduce unemployment, promote and provide for additional and maximum 

employment, better and maintain job opportunities for the inhabitants of the City of Albany, New 

York, and thereby serve the public purposes of the Enabling Act. 

 

(D) It is estimated at the present time that the costs of the planning, development, 

acquisition, construction and installation of the Project Facility, including the costs incurred in 

connection with the issuance of the Obligations (collectively, the “Project Costs”) are presently 

estimated to be an amount not to exceed $200,000,000. 

 

(E) The Company will ensure that the acquisition, construction, installation and 

operation of the Project Facility will comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, 

ordinances, rules and regulations, and the Company will obtain all necessary approvals and 

permits required thereunder. 

 

Section 1.02. By the Inducement Resolution, the Issuer has approved the execution of this 

Preliminary Agreement. The Issuer intends this Preliminary Agreement to constitute its official binding 

commitment, subject to the terms hereof and of the Inducement Resolution: (A) to issue its Obligations in 

one or more series or issues pursuant to the Enabling Act in an aggregate principal amount sufficient to 

pay the Project Costs, the actual principal amount of such Obligations to be agreed upon by the Issuer and 

the Company when the Project Costs are more definitely established; and (B) to use the proceeds of the 

Obligations to make a loan to the Company to be used to finance a portion of the Project Costs. 

 



 

 

- 3 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

Section 1.03. By resolution adopted by the members of the board of directors of the Issuer on 

________________, 2014 (the “SEQR Resolution”), the Issuer 

____________________________________________________________________________. 

 

Section 1.04. The Issuer intends this Preliminary Agreement to be an affirmative official action 

of the Issuer toward the issuance of the Obligations within the meaning of Section 1.103-8(a)(5) of the 

United States Treasury Regulations. 

 

Article 2. Undertakings on the Part of the Issuer. 

 

Based upon the statements, representations and undertakings of the Company and subject to the 

conditions set forth herein, the Issuer agrees as follows: 

 

Section 2.01. If the Company complies with all conditions set forth in this Preliminary 

Agreement and the Inducement Resolution, then the Issuer will authorize, sell and deliver its Obligations, 

in one or more series or issues from time to time, pursuant to the terms of the Enabling Act as then in 

force, for the purpose of financing the Project Costs, in an aggregate principal amount necessary and 

sufficient to finance the Project Costs. The precise amount of the Obligations shall be fixed by a 

resolution and certificate of determination of the Issuer at a later date and to be agreed to by the 

Company. Upon the sale of the Obligations, the Issuer will expend the proceeds of the Obligations to 

make a loan to the Company to be used to finance the Project Costs (including reimbursing the Company 

for its funds expended on the Project Costs subsequent to the earlier of (1) the date of adoption of the 

Inducement Resolution or (2) such earlier date as shall be acceptable to Bond Counsel); PROVIDED, 

HOWEVER, that the Obligations are to be secured by and payable from the revenues to be derived by the 

Issuer either in accordance with the terms of a loan agreement, or other similar financing agreement, or 

any combination thereof, to be entered into by and between the Issuer and the Company (all said 

agreements being hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Financing Agreement”); PROVIDED 

FURTHER, HOWEVER, that the foregoing obligation of the Issuer to undertake the Project and to issue 

the Obligations is subject to the conditions hereinafter contained in this Preliminary Agreement, including 

but not limited to the following conditions: 

 

(A) The Financing Agreement shall be executed between the Issuer, as lender, and 

the Company, as borrower. Pursuant to the Financing Agreement, the Company will be obligated, 

among other things, to make payments to the Issuer in such amounts and at such times so that 

such payments will be adequate to enable the Issuer to timely pay all amounts due under the 

Obligations. The Financing Agreement and any other documents to be executed by the Issuer in 

connection with the Project and the Obligations (collectively, the “Project Documents”), 

including the Obligations, shall in all respects comply with the requirements of, and limitations 

contained in, the Enabling Act and shall further specifically provide that the obligations of the 

Issuer thereunder are payable solely from the revenues derived by the Issuer from the Project 

Documents (except to the extent payable out of proceeds of the Obligations); that the obligations 

of the Issuer thereunder shall not be a general obligation of the Issuer and shall not constitute an 

indebtedness or pledge of the general credit of the Issuer; that no beneficiary of the obligations of 

the Issuer thereunder, including any holder of any of the Obligations, shall have the right to 

compel any exercise of the taxing power of the Issuer (if any) or of the State of New York or any 

political subdivision thereof, including the City of Albany, New York; and that the obligations of 

the Issuer thereunder shall not create a debt or loan of credit of the City of Albany, New York or 

the State of New York, but such obligations shall be a special obligation of the Issuer secured and 

payable solely as provided in the Project Documents or the Obligations, as the case may be, and 

such facts shall be plainly stated in each of such documents and on the face of each of the 

Obligations; 



 

 

- 4 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

 

(B) The Company shall have executed the Financing Agreement between the Issuer 

and the Company, the terms of which shall be acceptable in form and content to the Company, 

the Issuer and the purchasers of the Obligations, and pursuant to which, among other things, the 

Company shall be obligated to make aggregate basic payments (i.e. payments used to pay the 

principal and, premium, if any, and interest on the Obligations) to, or on behalf of, the Issuer in 

accordance with the terms of such Financing Agreement, which basic payments shall be in an 

amount at least sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Obligations, 

as and when the same become due and payable, and to pay all costs incurred by the Issuer with 

respect to the Project and/or the Project Facility together with all costs of operation and 

maintenance of the Project Facility, including all taxes and other governmental charges, any 

required payments in lieu of taxes, and the reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer in 

connection with the Project, it being understood that the Company will, prior to or 

contemporaneously with the issuance of the Obligations, enter into such Financing Agreement; 

 

(C) No event shall have occurred which constitutes (or which after notice or lapse of 

time or both would constitute) an event of default under the Financing Agreement; 

 

(D) One or more purchasers shall agree to purchase the Obligations, it being 

understood that the Company will use all reasonable efforts to find one or more purchasers for the 

Obligations; 

 

(E) The Company shall provide the Issuer and the purchasers of the Obligations with 

all information required to facilitate compliance with all applicable securities laws and all other 

information reasonably necessary in connection with the issue, sale, delivery and any resale of the 

Obligations; 

 

(F) The Company shall provide the Issuer and the other “involved agencies” (as such 

quoted term is defined in the Regulations) with all information and statements which may be 

required by said respective entities in order to facilitate compliance by said entities with SEQRA; 

 

(G) If the costs of the Project exceed the amount of the proceeds of the Obligations, 

or if the Obligations shall not be issued, the Company will pay all such Project Costs or such 

excess Project Costs and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement for any such payment from 

the Issuer; 

 

(H) The Obligations shall bear such dates, mature at such time or times, bear interest 

at such rate or rates, and contain such other terms and provisions as shall be determined by 

subsequent action of the Issuer and approved by the Company; 

 

(I) The Issuer shall receive, in form and substance satisfactory to the Issuer, such 

rulings, approvals, resolutions, consents, certificates, opinions of counsel and other instruments 

and proceedings as shall be specified by the Issuer in connection with the Obligations and (if 

applicable) the tax exemption of the interest thereon, the Project, the Financing Agreement, and 

the various other documents to be executed in connection with the Project, such rulings, 

approvals, resolutions, consents, certificates, opinions of counsel and other instruments and 

proceedings to be obtained from Bond Counsel, counsel to the Issuer and such other 

governmental and nongovernmental agencies and entities as may have or assert competence or 

jurisdiction over or interest in matters pertaining thereto, and the same shall be in full force and 

effect at the time of the issuance of the Obligations; 

 



 

 

- 5 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

(J) Agreements shall be made as to (1) indemnity by the Company of the Issuer and 

the members, directors and officers of the Issuer and (2) payment by the Company of the 

expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection with the Project (including counsel fees and out-of-

pocket expenses) and the administrative fee of the Issuer, and such agreements shall be 

satisfactory in form and substance to the Issuer; 

 

(K) If interest on any portion of the Obligations is to be treated as excludable from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes, (1) pursuant to Section 145(a) of the Code, all 

property which is to be provided by the net proceeds of such portion of the Obligations must be 

owned by a Section 501(c)(3) organization or a governmental unit and at least ninety-five percent 

(95%) of the net proceeds of such portion of the Obligations must be used with respect to 

(a) governmental units and/or (b) the activities of Section 501(c)(3) organizations which do not 

constitute “unrelated trades or businesses” (as defined in Section 513(a) of the Code), with 

respect to such Section 501(c)(3) organizations and (2) the Mayor of the City of Albany, New 

York must have approved the issuance of such portion of the Obligations after a public hearing on 

the issuance of such portion of the Obligations and the nature and location of the Project Facility 

has been held by the Issuer, as required by Section 147(f) of the Code; 

 

(L) The following additional conditions: [InducementConditions].  

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2.02. The obligations of the Issuer pursuant to this Preliminary Agreement are subject 

to the conditions elsewhere contained in this Preliminary Agreement and to the additional condition that 

the Issuer shall not issue its Obligations to finance the Project Costs unless and until the Issuer shall have 

complied with the provisions of SEQRA. 

 

Section 2.03. Subject to the conditions stated in this Preliminary Agreement, the Issuer from 

time to time will adopt, or cause to be adopted, such proceedings and authorize the execution of such 

documents as may be necessary or advisable for: (A) the authorization, issuance and sale of the 

Obligations; and (B) the use of the proceeds of the Obligations to make a loan to the Company to be used 

to finance the Project Costs; all as shall be authorized by law and be mutually satisfactory to the Issuer, 

the Company and the purchasers of the Obligations. If acceptable to the Company and the purchasers of 

the Obligations, such actions and documents may permit the issuance from time to time in the future of 

additional bonds on terms which shall be set forth therein, whether on a parity with the Obligations or 

otherwise, for the purpose of defraying the cost of completion of the Project. 

 

Section 2.04. The Issuer will take or cause to be taken such other acts and adopt such further 

proceedings as may be required to implement the aforesaid undertakings or as it may deem appropriate in 

pursuance thereof. 

 

Article 3. Undertakings on the Part of the Company. 

 

Based upon the statements, representations and undertakings of the Issuer and subject to the 

conditions set forth herein, the Company agrees as follows: 

 

Section 3.01. The Company will use all reasonable efforts to find or cause to be found one or 

more purchasers for the Obligations and will use reasonable efforts to insure that the Obligations are sold; 



 

 

- 6 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

provided, however, that the terms of such Obligations and of the sale and delivery thereof shall be 

mutually satisfactory to the Issuer and the Company. 

 

Section 3.02. Contemporaneously with the sale and delivery of the Obligations, the Company 

will enter into the Financing Agreement with the Issuer containing the terms and conditions described in 

Section 2.01 hereof. The Company agrees that, if the Obligations shall not be issued or if the Project 

Costs exceed the amount of the proceeds of the Obligations, the Company will pay all such Project Costs 

or such excess Project Costs and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement for any such payment either 

from the Issuer or from the purchasers or holders of the Obligations. THE ISSUER MAKES NO 

WARRANTY, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, THAT THE PROCEEDS OF THE OBLIGATIONS 

WILL BE SUFFICIENT TO PAY ALL PROJECT COSTS, OR THAT THE PROJECT FACILITY 

WILL BE SUITABLE FOR THE COMPANY’S PURPOSES OR NEEDS. 

 

Section 3.03. The Company hereby agrees to indemnify and hold the Issuer (and its members, 

directors, agents and employees) harmless from all losses, expenses, claims and liabilities arising out of or 

based on (A) labor, services, materials and supplies, including equipment, ordered or used in connection 

with the acquisition, construction and installation of the Project Facility, including any expenses incurred 

by the Issuer (and its members, directors, officers, agents and employees) in defending any claims, suits 

or actions which may arise as a result of any of the foregoing and/or (B) any untrue statement or alleged 

untrue statement of a material fact included in any written materials relating to the offering or sale of the 

Obligations or the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact necessary in order to make 

the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The 

Company shall not permit to stand, and will, at its own expense, take steps reasonably necessary to 

remove, any mechanic’s or other liens against the Project Facility for labor or material furnished in 

connection with the acquisition, construction and installation of the Project Facility. 

 

Section 3.04. The Company hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the Issuer (and its 

members, directors, officers, agents and employees) harmless from any and all (A) claims and liabilities 

for the loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of any person that may be occasioned 

subsequent to the date hereof by any cause whatsoever in relation to the Project and/or the Project 

Facility, including any expenses incurred by the Issuer (and its members, directors, officers, agents and 

employees) in defending any claims, suits or actions which may arise as a result of the foregoing; and 

(B) claims and liability arising from or expenses incurred in connection with the Project or by the Issuer’s 

financing of the Project Facility, including all causes of action and attorneys’ fees and any other expenses 

incurred in defending any suits or actions which may arise as a result of any of the foregoing. The 

Company shall include the Issuer (and its members, directors, officers, agents and employees) as a named 

insured under all public liability insurance policies obtained by the Company with respect to the Project. 

 

Section 3.05. The Company will take such further action and adopt such further proceedings as 

may be required to implement its aforesaid undertakings or as it may deem appropriate in pursuance 

thereof. 

 

Article 4. General Provisions. 

 

Section 4.01. All commitments of the Issuer under Article 2 hereof and of the Company under 

Article 3 hereof (excepting the obligations of the Company set forth in Sections 3.03 and 3.04 hereof, 

which shall survive the termination of this Preliminary Agreement) are subject to the condition that the 

following events shall have occurred not later than two (2) years from the date hereof (or such other date 

as shall be mutually satisfactory to the Issuer and the Company): 

 



 

 

- 7 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

(A) The Issuer, the Company and the purchasers of the Obligations shall have agreed 

on mutually acceptable terms and conditions of the Obligations, the Financing Agreement and 

any agreements securing the Obligations and any other agreements referred to in Articles 2 or 3 

hereof; 

 

(B) All necessary governmental approvals shall be obtained; and 

 

(C) All other conditions expressed in this Preliminary Agreement shall have been 

satisfied. 

 

Section 4.02. Subject to the terms and conditions of Section 4.03 hereof, the Company shall 

have the right to unilaterally cancel this Preliminary Agreement at any time prior to the time that the 

Obligations are issued by the Issuer upon thirty (30) days prior written notice of cancellation delivered to 

the Issuer at the address set forth in Section 4.04 hereof. 

 

Section 4.03. If the events set forth in Section 4.01 hereof do not take place within the time set 

forth in said Section 4.01, or any extension thereof, or if the Company exercises its right of cancellation 

as set forth in Section 4.02 hereof, the Company agrees that (A) it will promptly reimburse the Issuer (and 

its officers, members, directors, agents or employees) for all reasonable and necessary direct out-of-

pocket expenses (including legal fees and expenses) which the Issuer (and its officers, members, 

directors, agents or employees) may incur with respect to the execution of this Preliminary Agreement 

and the performance of its obligations hereunder; and (B) the obligations of the Company set forth in 

Section 3.03 and 3.04 hereof shall survive the termination of this Preliminary Agreement and shall remain 

in full force and effect until the expiration of the period stated in the applicable statute of limitations 

during which a claim, cause of action or prosecution relating to the matters described therein may be 

brought and payment in full or the satisfaction of such claim, cause of action or prosecution and the 

payment of all expenses and charges incurred by the Issuer (and its officers, members, directors, agents or 

employees) relating to the enforcement of the provisions therein stated. 

 

Section 4.04. (A) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall 

be deemed given when mailed by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return 

receipt requested, addressed as follows: 

 

(1) To the Issuer: 

 

City of Albany Capital Resource Corporation 

21 Lodge Street 

Albany, New York  12207 

Attention: Chairman 

 

With a copy to: 

 

Hodgson Russ LLP 

677 Broadway 

Albany, New York  12207 

Attention: A. Joseph Scott, III, Esq. 

 



 

 

- 8 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

(2) To the Company: 

 

Fuller Road Management Corporation 

257 Fuller Road 

Albany, New York  12203 

Attention: Walter G. Barber 

 

With a copy to: 

 

Hiscock & Barclay 

80 State Street 

Albany, New York  12207 

Attention: M. Cornelia Cahill, Esq. 

 

(B) The Issuer and the Company may, by notice given hereunder, designate any further or 

different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates and other communications shall be sent. 

 

Section 4.05. All covenants and agreements herein contained by or on behalf of the Issuer and 

the Company shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns of the Issuer and 

the Company, whether so expressed or not. 

 

Section 4.06. The obligations and agreements of the Issuer contained herein shall be deemed 

the obligations and agreements of the Issuer, and not of any member, officer, agent or employee of the 

Issuer in his individual capacity, and the members, directors, officers, agents and employees of the Issuer 

shall not be liable personally hereon or be subject to any personal liability or accountability based upon or 

in respect hereof or of any transaction contemplated hereby. The obligations and agreements of the Issuer 

contained herein shall not constitute or give rise to an obligation of the State of New York or of the City 

of Albany, New York and neither the State of New York nor the City of Albany, New York shall be liable 

thereon, and further, such obligations and agreements shall not constitute or give rise to a general 

obligation of the Issuer, but rather shall constitute limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the 

revenues of the Issuer derived and to be derived from the revenues of the Issuer derived and to be derived 

from the Financing Agreement and the other related financing documents (except for revenues derived by 

the Issuer with respect to the Unassigned Rights, as defined in the Financing Agreement). 

 

Section 4.07. Notwithstanding any provision of this Preliminary Agreement to the contrary, the 

Issuer shall not be obligated to take any action pursuant to any provision hereof unless (A) the Issuer shall 

have been requested to do so in writing by the Company; and (B) if compliance with such request is 

reasonably expected to result in the incurrence by the Issuer (or any member, officer, agent or employee 

of the Issuer) of any liability, fees, expenses or other costs, the Issuer shall have received from the 

Company security or indemnity satisfactory to the Issuer for protection against all such liability and for 

the reimbursement of all such fees, expenses and other costs. 

 



 

 

- 9 - 
000161.00320 Business 12788489v1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Preliminary Agreement as of 

the day and date first written above. 

 

 

CITY OF ALBANY CAPITAL RESOURCE 

CORPORATION 

 

 

BY:___________________________________ 

(Vice) Chairman 

 

 

FULLER ROAD MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATION 

 

 

BY:___________________________________ 

Authorized Officer 

 


























































































	1. CRC Agenda 5.15.14
	2. CRC minutes_3_20_14 Board Meeting monthly_mtg
	3. April Financial Report(CRC)
	4. April Financial Report(IDA)
	5. FRMC Preliminary Inducement Resolution
	6. ZEN cover letter
	7. CACRC App - FRMC ZEN Bldg

